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______________________________________________________________________________ 

4. National Park Service Certification  

 I hereby certify that this property is:  

       entered in the National Register  

       determined eligible for the National Register  

       determined not eligible for the National Register  

       removed from the National Register  

       other (explain:)  _____________________                                                                                    

 
                     
______________________________________________________________________   
Signature of the Keeper   Date of Action 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
5. Classification 

 Ownership of Property 

 (Check as many boxes as apply.) 
Private:  
 
 Public – Local 
 
 Public – State  
 
 Public – Federal  
 
 Category of Property 

 (Check only one box.) 
 
 Building(s) 
 
 District  
 
 Site 
 
 Structure  
 
 Object  

 
 
 
 
 
 

X

X
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 Number of Resources within Property 
 (Do not include previously listed resources in the count)              
Contributing   Noncontributing 
_____1_______   ______2______  buildings 
 
_____0_______   ______0______  sites 
 
_____0_______   ______0______  structures  
 
_____0_______   ______0______  objects 
 
_____1_______   ______2 ______  Total 

 
 

 Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register _0_ 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

6. Function or Use  
Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
 
 EDUCATION: school 

 
Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
 
 VACANT/NOT IN USE 
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_____________________________________________________________________________ 
7. Description  
 
 Architectural Classification  
 (Enter categories from instructions.) 
 
 LATE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURY REVIVALS: Colonial Revival 
 
Materials: (enter categories from instructions.) 
Principal exterior materials of the property:  
 
CONCRETE; BRICK; METAL: tin 

 
Narrative Description 
(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property.  Describe 
contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that 
briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, 
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has 
historic integrity.)   
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Summary Paragraph 
 
Calfee Training School is in the Town of Pulaski, in Pulaski County, Virginia. It opened in 1939 
after the original Calfee Training School was destroyed by a fire in 1938. The Calfee Training 
School was the only public school in the town of Pulaski built specifically to provide elementary 
education for black students during the segregation era. The school stands on the north side of 
Corbin-Harmon Drive. The school was originally a one-story brick building with eight classrooms 
and an auditorium. W.J. Dixon, architect of the State Department of Education’s Division of 
School Buildings, provided the plans and specifications. The school was built by the Dublin, 
Virginia, construction firm of Trinkle and Dobyns with Public Works Administration (PWA) 
funds. The National Youth Administration provided additional labor to build the auditorium wing. 
The school was enlarged in 1951 with a small one-story addition at the rear northwest corner 
composed of a lunchroom and teachers’ restroom. The original “T”-shaped building is faced in 
brick veneer, laid in Flemish variant bond, and features gable and hipped roofs. The balanced 
façade reflects the Colonial Revival style, comprising a center pavilion with a recessed entrance 
featuring a classical pediment and flanked by large banks of double-hung wood windows and 
projecting end pavilions. The one-story rear addition, built in 1951, continues the brick veneer in 
a five-course Flemish variant bond but is differentiated by its shed roof and metal hopper-style 
windows. The interior design and details are functional and demonstrate its historic function as a 
PWA elementary school. The building was renovated in 1990 as corporate offices with minor 
modifications in the lobby and surrounding classrooms as well as the replacement of window sash 
and doors. The building is currently vacant. The 2.66-acre site includes a side parking area, a ca. 
1990 metal storage building, and a ca. 1981 brick pump station, both of which are non-contributing 
as they postdate the property’s period of significance.  
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______________________________________________________________________________ 
Narrative Description  
 
Calfee Training School is located in Pulaski, an incorporated town in Pulaski County, Virginia. 
Situated two blocks west of the commercial downtown area, it is surrounded by a mainly 
residential neighborhood. The school stands on the north side of Corbin-Harmon Drive. The 2.66-
acre lot includes the school at the south end, a paved parking lot along the west side, a ca. 1990 
metal storage building at the east side, and a ca. 1981 brick pump station in the SE corner. The 
front of the school is set back approximately 25 feet from the public sidewalk, with a shallow front 
lawn planted with grass and shrubs. A short brick path approaches the front entrance to the 
building. A chain-link fence borders the north and west sides of the lot. The Tract Fork of Peak 
Creek runs along the west property line. 
 
Calfee Training School was built in 1939 in the restrained Colonial Revival style as a one-story, 
brick building with a “T”-shaped footprint. The building stands on a concrete foundation. The 
central entrance pavilion features a side gable, and the projecting end pavilions feature hipped 
roofs. Two large, corbeled brick chimneys and parapets with cast stone coping flank the central 
pavilion. The linear rear wing intersects the central pavilion and comprises two separate sections 
with front gable roofs connected by a small flat-roofed hyphen. The front section accommodated 
classrooms while the rear, double-height section featured an auditorium. An interior brick chimney 
extends above the roof of the rear classroom wing. A small one-story addition appends the west 
elevation of the rear auditorium section.  
 
The Colonial Revival style is reflected in the balanced front elevation with a central entrance 
pavilion flanked by banks of windows and two slightly projecting end pavilions. The exterior brick 
walls are laid in a common bond with a Flemish course of bricks to every three courses of stretcher 
bricks. A brick soldier-course extends along the water table capping the concrete foundation. 
Simple wood cornices project below the roof lines of the original central and end pavilions.  
 
A wood triangular pediment supported by a simple entablature and Doric pilasters surrounds the 
central front entry bay with paneled reveals framing the recessed double-leaf entrance. This 
entrance contains replacement flush metal divided ½-light double doors capped by a replacement 
18-light wood transom. According to the 1939 plans, the original entrance contained paneled wood 
double doors capped by a four-light wood transom. Two secondary entrances on the rear (north) 
elevation of the central pavilion contain single-leaf metal divided ½-light replacement doors 
capped by replacement ten-light wood transoms. A secondary entrance on the rear (north) 
elevation of the rear classroom wing contains a flush single-leaf door. These three entrances are 
sheltered by gabled overhangs supported by large wood brackets. The hyphen connecting the two 
sections of the rear wing features a single-leaf entrance on each side containing a historic single-
leaf six-panel wood door. Two single-leaf entrances on the rear (north) elevation of the auditorium 
section are also sheltered by overhangs supported by large wood brackets. One entrance contains 
a historic single-leaf 6-panel wood door capped by a historic three-light wood transom, while the 
other entrance and transom openings are covered with a plywood board. A non-historic freight 
opening on this elevation contains a non-historic metal roll-up door. 
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There are 16 banks of four windows on the front section of the building—eight on the front 
elevation, four on the east side elevation and four on the west side elevation—with two pairs of 
double-hung wood replacement window sash. A course of soldier bricks and a concrete sill frame 
the opening of each window bank. On the west side elevation, an additional bank of windows 
contains an original set of paired 12/12 double-hung wood sash windows. The east and west side 
elevations of the rear classroom wing each feature two sets of paired 6/6 double-hung wood sash 
windows. The rear auditorium wing contains three window banks of three metal hopper windows 
on each side elevation, located in the clerestory. The arrangement of the building fenestration is 
formal and symmetrical, with the size, shape, and spatial arrangement of the original openings 
remaining unaltered, only the window units themselves have been replaced.  
 
The design of the 1951 addition is compatible yet contemporary to the original school as it is 
subordinate in its small size, simple design, and siting at the rear. The addition incorporates a five-
course Flemish variant bond, similar to the three-course Flemish-variant bond of the 1939 school. 
The brick soldier-course water table of the original school is continued on the addition, although 
the foundation of the addition is faced with brick. The addition features metal hopper windows on 
concrete sills. A flat awning shelters the entrance on the west side elevation. The 6-panel wood 
door in this entrance is covered with a plywood board. 
 
The original 1939 school building has a T-shaped plan comprised of a single-loaded transverse 
corridor extending across the front section to either side of the front lobby with an intersecting 
double-loaded corridor extending from the lobby to the auditorium wing at the rear. Eight 
classrooms, a principal’s office, two restrooms, and a furnace area are arranged around these 
corridors. Historic closets with wood bi-fold doors are intact in some of the classrooms. A hyphen 
connects the rear classroom wing with the auditorium at the north end of the building. The 
auditorium features a wood stage at the rear. The corridors are characterized by plaster walls and 
wood baseboards. The doorways along the corridors contain flush wood doors in metal casings. 
The former classrooms feature plaster perimeter walls and wood window trim. The hyphen 
contains painted brick walls. The wood floors throughout the building are covered with non-
historic carpeting and vinyl tile. Dropped acoustical tile (ACT) ceilings have been added below 
the plaster ceilings throughout the building. The stairs to the stage in the auditorium are wood.  
 
The 1951 addition appends the west elevation of the auditorium wing. This small addition is 
comprised of two rooms and a restroom that served as a lunchroom and teachers’ restroom. The 
addition is in poor condition due to the deteriorated roof. Historic two-panel doors and some 
historic plaster walls remain intact. Plaster has been removed from several of the walls, exposing 
brick and concrete block. The tile floors and dropped ACT ceilings are in poor condition due to 
water damage from the deteriorated roof. 
 
Interior modifications that postdate the closing of the segregated elementary school in 1966 do not 
contribute to the significance of the building as a school and are not considered to be historic. Most 
of the interior modifications date to 1990 when the building was converted to office space. 
Modifications include the installation of modern aluminum-frame storefront doors in the entryway 
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and the alteration of the front four classrooms along the longitudinal corridor with the replacement 
of the 90º corners of the classroom along this corridor with angled walls containing glazed-block 
wood windows. Additional modifications include contemporary acoustical tile ceilings, gypsum 
wallboard and wallpaper, carpeted, parquet tile, and vinyl tile floors, removal of transoms above 
doors, replacement doors, limited new partition walls, and the installation of a second-floor storage 
area above the auditorium. These changes are minimal, and the majority are reversible. The 
changes do not diminish the historic or architectural significance of the school, which continues to 
retain its historic corridor configuration, classroom walls, and vertical circulation patterns as well 
as its historic exterior appearance.  
 
There are no contributing secondary resources associated with the school. The metal storage 
building beside the school was constructed ca. 1990 and postdates the property’s period of 
significance. The brick building with a flat concrete roof at the southeast corner was constructed 
ca. 1981 as a pump station and also postdates the property’s period of significance.  
 
Statement of Integrity 
 
With its relatively unaltered exterior, interior plan, and finishes that clearly reflect its original 
design and function, Calfee Training School retains the physical integrity necessary to convey its 
architectural and historic significance as a public elementary school built in 1939 with funding 
from the Public Works Administration for black students in Pulaski during the Jim Crow era of 
segregation. The school retains its integrity of location and setting as it still occupies its original 
site and acreage on the north side of Corbin-Harmon Drive in a historically black neighborhood a 
few blocks west of the downtown commercial district in the town of Pulaski. The school site retains 
its setting with a small, landscaped area in front, gravel parking area on one side, and open area 
for play with primarily residential land uses continuing to characterize the surrounding community.  
 
The 1939 brick building and 1951 rear addition also retain their overall design, materials, and 
workmanship. The restrained Colonial Revival features of the school remain intact with its 
character-defining red brick walls laid in a Flemish-variant bond, symmetrical facade, pedimented 
entryway, simple cornice, and balanced fenestration pattern. Although the original window sash 
and doors have been replaced, the size, shape, and spatial arrangement of the school’s original 
fenestration have not been modified. The 1951 addition is contemporary yet compatible with the 
original building in its use of red brick veneer laid in a (slightly different) Flemish-variant bond 
combined with metal hopper-style windows. The interior plan and finishes also remain intact 
overall and clearly reflect the historic design and function of a public elementary school designed 
and built in 1939 according to standardized plans provided by the Department of Education.  
 
With these elements intact, Calfee Training School retains its attributes of feeling and association 
as it continues to convey its historic function as a public school constructed in 1939 with funding 
from the Public Works Administration in an attempt to provide equal educational opportunities to 
black students in Pulaski County during the Jim Crow era of segregation. 
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Inventory of Contributing and Non-Contributing Resources  
 
1. Calfee Training School, 1939, contributing building 
2. Metal Storage Building, ca. 1990, non-contributing building 
3. Brick Pump Station, ca. 1981, non-contributing building  
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_________________________________________________________________ 
8. Statement of Significance 

 
 Applicable National Register Criteria  
 (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register  
 listing.) 

 
A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the 

broad patterns of our history. 
  

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.  
 

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of 
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, 
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.  
 

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or 
history.  

 
 

 Criteria Considerations  
 (Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.) 

 
A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes 

  
B. Removed from its original location   

 
C. A birthplace or grave  

 
D. A cemetery 

 
E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure 

 
F. A commemorative property 

 
G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

X

X

 

 



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10900     OMB No. 10240018      

 
Calfee Training School Pulaski County, VA 
Name of Property                   County and State 
 

Section 8 page 10 
 

Areas of Significance 
(Enter categories from instructions.)  
ARCHITECTURE 
EDUCATION  
ETHNIC HERITAGE: African American  
 
Period of Significance 
1938-1966 
 
 Significant Dates  
 1951 
 
Significant Person 
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 
N/A  
 
 Cultural Affiliation  
N/A  
 
 Architect/Builder 
 Division of School Buildings, Virginia Department of Education (architect)  
 Trinkle and Dobyns (contractors – 1939 building and 1951 addition) 
 National Youth Administration (builders – 1939 auditorium wing) 
Smithey and Boynton (architect - 1951 addition) 
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes 
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any 
applicable criteria considerations.)  
 
Built in 1939 with funding from the Public Works Administration as an elementary school for 
black students during the Jim Crow segregation era in the town of Pulaski, the Calfee Training 
School is eligible for listing on the National Register under Criteria A and C with significance on 
the local level in the areas of Education, Ethnic Heritage (African American), and Architecture. 
Under Criterion A, the Calfee Training School is significant as it illustrates the development of 
education and school construction in rural Virginia following the 1870 establishment of the public 
school system, consisting primarily of geographically scattered one- and two-room schools, to the 
1920s progressive-era movement to consolidate and standardize schools. Funded by the Public 
Works Administration and built according to plans provided by the Virginia Board of Education 
School Building Service, Calfee Training School is an excellent example of efforts by the state 
and federal government to improve educational facilities and expand curriculum while maintaining 
a segregated public school system. The school is also eligible under Criterion A for its significance 
in African American Ethnic Heritage in Pulaski County as it represents the efforts of the black 
community to attain equality in education for students and teachers during the Jim Crow era of 
“separate but equal” segregation. Petitions filed by the teachers and parents demanding improved 
teacher salaries and school facilities reflected the 1930s equalization strategy of the NAACP Legal 
Defense Fund. The fight over the plans for the new Calfee Training School resulted in the addition 
of an auditorium wing but the loss of secondary education and the school principal as the county 
decided to replace Chauncey Harmon and send high school students to the Christiansburg Institute 
in Montgomery County. The Calfee Training School is also locally significant under Criterion C 
in the area of Architecture as a good example of a one-story consolidated school funded by the 
Public Works Administration according to standardized plans provided by the Board of Education 
School Building Service. Designed in the Colonial-Revival style, the school also illustrates the 
preference in Virginia to utilize this traditional style for educational buildings during the first half 
of the 20th century. The period of significance for the Calfee Training School begins in 1938, with 
the commencement of its initial plans for construction and the subsequent efforts by the black 
community to expand and improve the plans for the proposed new school and ends in 1966 when 
the Pulaski County school system became fully integrated and Calfee Training School closed. The 
school reopened in 1968 as Pulaski Primary School for white and black kindergarten students. The 
significant date of 1951 coincides with construction of the school’s rear addition, which included 
two rooms and a restroom. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of 
significance.)   
 
The concept of free public schools in Virginia was first supported by the General Assembly in 
1810 with the establishment of the Literary Fund and the subsequent passage of the Public School 
Act of 1829. As these legislative actions did not make public schools compulsory or institute a 
local tax requirement for their financial support, they did not have an immediate statewide impact 
on public education.1 However, they are significant in the history of public education in Virginia 
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– particularly the Literary Fund which continues to operate today – as they “established the 
principle of public money for public schools, provided a rudimentary public school system, and 
aided in developing the concept of education as a state responsibility.”2 By 1861, there was a 
superintendent and a board of school commissioners in every county in Virginia.3 This concept of 
public schools, however, did not extend to blacks as Virginia laws prior to the Civil War prohibited 
the education of both free and enslaved blacks. 
 
Pulaski County, formed in 1839 from Montgomery and Wythe counties, was typical of Southwest 
Virginia with subsistence farming dominating the economy. While the plantation system so 
prevalent in the Tidewater region of Virginia did not characterize Pulaski County with its reliance 
on enslaved labor, the county did have a significant number of enslaved African American workers 
during the antebellum period. In 1840, the census recorded the total county population as 3,739 
with 971 (26%) black persons, including seventeen who were free. At the time, there were seven 
“common” schools in the county providing primary education to white students only. By 1860, the 
county population had increased to 5,416 with 29% enslaved.4  
 
The first school for free blacks in Virginia was formed near Hampton in 1861, just before the 
beginning of the Civil War.5 After the war, Congress established the Freedman’s Bureau in 1865 
to aid the South in the transition from enslavement to freedom of blacks. Operating until 1872, 
part of the bureau’s responsibility was to oversee approximately 3,000 schools across the South 
for those freed from enslavement. One such school was founded in 1866 in nearby Montgomery 
County by Captain Charles Schaeffer, who served as Commissioner of the Freedmen’s Bureau for 
the New River region. Established five years before the public school system in Montgomery 
County and originally known as the Hill School, it would expand in the late 1890s to become the 
Christiansburg Industrial Institute and serve black students from the surrounding region (including 
Pulaski County).6 Shaeffer also helped to establish black churches throughout the region, including 
churches in the communities of New River, Dublin, Bell Spring, Pulaski, and Rich Hill in Pulaski 
County. A white teacher from the North also came to the county seat of Newbern during this time 
to provide formal teaching to black students in Pulaski for the first time.7  
 
“Separate but Equal” Public Education in Virginia and Pulaski County  
 
The establishment of a publicly funded statewide school system for all students, regardless of race, 
gender, or income, did not occur until the passing of the Virginia Constitution of 1869. It tasked 
the General Assembly of Virginia with the formation of a state public school system and created 
the State Superintendent of Public Instruction position as well as the State Board of Education. It 
also made future provisions for compulsory school attendance. 8  In spite of the progressive 
Republican leadership during Reconstruction, the public schools were segregated from the 
beginning on the prevalent theory that this arrangement would diminish racial tension.9 In 1896, 
segregated schools and all other public accommodations were legally sanctioned by the US 
Supreme Court decision in Plessy v. Ferguson based on the justification that they could be 
“separate but equal.” Generally, however, black public schools received less funding than their 
white counterparts as many white citizens feared the education of black citizens would lead to 
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discontent with the inferior and limited job opportunities, such as field hands or domestic workers, 
that the dominant white population allowed them.10  
 
During the initial 1870-1871 term of the new school system in Virginia, approximately 38% of 
eligible white students and 24% of black students in the commonwealth attended public schools 
for the first time. In Pulaski County, there were a total of sixteen one- and two-room schools, with 
thirteen of these serving 634 white students (averaging 48 students per school) and only three 
schools serving the 184 black students (averaging 61 students per school). Despite this disparity 
in facilities, the attendance rate was much higher for the black students with 131 (71%) attending 
daily while the attendance for white students averaged only 334 (52%).11 By 1880, the total 
number of public schools in the county had increased to 32 elementary schools with high school 
education found only at the private academies.12  
 
During the last quarter of the 19th century, the population of Pulaski County increased from 8,755 
in 1880 to 14,609 in 1900 as the arrival of the railroad and industries brought new employment 
opportunities to the area.13 The Altuna Coal Company built a railroad into the nearby coalfields 
followed by the opening of the Bertha Zinc Works in 1884 at Martin’s Tank, which would become 
incorporated as Pulaski City in 1886. By 1884, the Pulaski Iron Company owned the zinc mine 
with 210 employees in 1888. The Dora Furnace – later to become part of Virginia Iron, Coal and 
Coke Company – opened in 1890. While the percentage of black persons in the county decreased 
slightly from 28% in 1880 to 22% in 1900, this is due to the overall growth in population during 
the industrial boom. The number of black residents actually increased during this period from 
2,452 to 3,237 with the new employment opportunities for black workers provided by the railroad 
and the numerous industrial operations. This influx of workers spurred the development of several 
black communities in Pulaski County – including Christian Hill, Dude Hill, Needmore, Big 
Railroad, Dora Mountain, Randolph Avenue, and the company housing for blacks at the Pulaski 
Iron Furnace, which became known as “P.I.”14  
 
Pulaski City, the future Town of Pulaski, began to develop during this time as the commercial 
center of the county with twelve mining companies and the same number of land development 
companies locating their offices in town by 1900.15 There were two schools in town at this point, 
one for white students and one for black students. The school for white students, designed by the 
Lynchburg architectural firm of W.P. Tinsley and Company and constructed in 1890 at a cost of 
$12,500, consisted of a two-and-a-half-story, brick facility on Randolph Street that included eight 
classrooms. By contrast, black students in town first attended school in 1880 in a former house in 
the Big Railroad section. By 1888, a second school for blacks opened in town in a frame building 
owned by the Episcopal Church on Water Street.16 One-room black schools also opened in 1888 
in the nearby communities of Christian Hill and Needmore.17 
 
Pulaski City became the new county seat in 1894 after a fire destroyed the courthouse in Newbern 
in 1893. The short-lived voting power of black county residents during Reconstruction was evident 
in the contentious 1894 referendum on the new location for the courthouse. It is reported that black 
voters in Pulaski City held a rally the night before the referendum and demonstrated their 
unanimous support to relocate the courthouse to Pulaski City rather than the older towns in the 
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county, such as Dublin, Newbern, and Snowville.18 School facilities for black students in the new 
county seat improved at this time with the consolidation of three smaller schools into a new, four-
room brick school for the Pulaski District. The Town Council voted to contribute $500 towards 
the construction of the Pulaski Graded School on West Main Street.19 Construction of the new 
school was completed in late 1894 and the school opened for classes in January 1895.20 In spite of 
this new school, education in Pulaski County continued to be segregated and unequal. In 1901, 
there were 2,398 white students attending sixty schools in the county (averaging 40 students per 
school) and 672 black students attending twelve schools (averaging 56 students per school).21  
 
The beginning of the 20th century, however, initiated a period in which the rights of blacks in 
Virginia would be severely curtailed through the ratification of the Constitution of 1902. It has 
been said that the “elimination of the African American vote to the maximum degree possible was 
the intention of from the outset” of the convention.22 In addition to introducing the poll tax to 
disenfranchise black voters, the new constitution established legal segregation. In particular, 
Section 140 of the 1902 Constitution stated that “White and colored children shall not be taught in 
the same school.”23  
 
Social Reform and Improvements to Black Education in the Rural South 
 
In the aftermath of the 1902 Constitution, blacks in Virginia realized they would have to rely on 
themselves to supplement the minimal public support provided by the General Assembly in order 
to improve their situation. During the early 1900s, there were two organizations committed to 
advancing educational opportunities for black students and teachers in Virginia. The School 
Improvement League worked to improve school facilities for blacks while the Virginia Teachers 
Association focused on supporting professional development for teachers. In 1909, the two 
organizations joined forces and, subsequently, became part of the newly formed Negro 
Organization Society in 1912. Under the leadership of John Gandy, T.C. Walker, and Robert Russa 
Moton, the Negro Organization Society sought to make improvements in the lives of black 
Virginians in the areas of farming, education, health, and home. With a particular emphasis on 
education, the Society solicited private donations to supplement public funding for school 
construction and improvements and advocated for longer school terms. By 1916, the organization 
had raised $133,191 and succeeded in extending the school term to six months.24 
 
Fortunately, a number of philanthropic organizations also emerged to improve life in the rural 
South as part of the general progressive movement during the early 20th century.25 Several of these 
organizations focused on education – particularly the disparities in public funding and general 
support for black education during the Jim Crow era of segregated schools, which were separate 
but definitely not equal. The Southern Education Board formed in 1901 as a result of a series of 
conferences held by educators and clergymen to discuss the general idea of improving the system 
of public schools in the South.26 In 1903, John D. Rockefeller established the General Education 
Board Inc. for “the promotion of education within the United States of America without distinction 
of race, sex or creed.”27 Rockefeller initially funded the General Education Board with a gift of $1 
million followed by subsequent gifts of $10 million in 1905, $32 million in 1907 and an additional 
$10 million in 1909. The board advocated to create the position of State Superintendent of Negro 
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Schools in Virginia in 1910. By 1940, the board reportedly had invested $85 million in education 
in the south.28  
 
Educational reform efforts often focused on extending instruction to the high school level. 
Unfortunately, this reform effort was generally limited to white students with only 21 black high 
schools in the South by 1916. In Virginia, there were only 74 high schools in 1906, including one 
for white students in the town of Pulaski. Following the passage of the 1906 Mann Act, which 
provided funding and regulations for a state system of high schools, the number of high schools in 
Virginia increased significantly. By 1918, there were 522 high schools in Virginia, including 183 
that were fully accredited; however, only three of the accredited high schools existed in the state 
for black students.29  
 
The John F. Slater Fund was one of the first educational foundations in the United States 
exclusively devoted to black education.30 The fund was established in 1882 with an endowment of 
$1,000,000 for “the general purpose of uplifting the largely emancipated population of the southern 
states and their posterity by conferring on them the blessings of a Christian education.”31 However, 
it was not until 1911 that the fund began concentrating on the establishment and development of 
public secondary school facilities.32 The Slater Fund ascribed to the County Training School 
approach which, unlike fully accredited high schools, were secondary schools for black students 
based on the industrial or vocational school model experienced by Booker T. Washington at the 
Hampton Normal Institute and continued by him at Tuskegee Institute. Supported financially by 
the John F. Slater Fund, these schools were established for the purposes of offering academic 
coursework as well as industrialized training in the fields of farming, home economics, and 
teaching. The Slater Fund sponsored these black secondary schools with the understanding that 
funding would be discontinued once the school became organized and public school boards could 
fully sustain them.33 In 1915, there were five county training schools for blacks in Virginia with 
the number increasing to 68 by 1933, including the Calfee Training School in Pulaski.34  
 
Anna T. Jeanes, a wealthy Quaker from Philadelphia, established the Negro Rural School Fund in 
1907 with a $1 million endowment. The purpose of the fund was to enhance black education, both 
academic and vocational, in the rural South through the sponsorship of black teachers and 
supervisor positions. This fund differed from others in that it provided teacher and administrative 
support rather than the construction of new facilities.35 Pulaski County benefitted from these 
services with Mrs. Mary White Buford, former principal of the Calfee Graded School (1911-1918), 
serving as the Jeanes Supervisor for the county beginning in 1918.  
 
The Julius Rosenwald Fund was organized in 1917 specifically to improve educational facilities 
(primarily elementary schools) for blacks in the South. The school building program initiated a 
basic level of standards by requiring, among other things, that the local black community and the 
locality contribute at least one-third of the cost, that school sites consist of at least two acres to 
provide room for outdoor play, and that the school term be a minimum of five months. By 1932, 
the Rosenwald Fund had assisted with the construction of more than 5,000 schools in fifteen 
southern states. In Virginia, 381 “Rosenwald Schools” were constructed, including the Rich Hill 
School (1917-1920) and the New River School (1922-1923) in Pulaski County.36 
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Growth in Pulaski and School Improvements  
 
In spite of the closing of the Dora Furnace and the Bertha Zinc Works, Pulaski County successfully 
transitioned from an economy based on mineral extraction to one of furniture manufacturing in the 
years following World War I. The Pulaski Foundry and Machine Company opened in 1916. The 
Coleman-Vaughan Furniture Company moved to Pulaski in 1923 with 125 jobs. The Pulaski 
Furniture Corporation and the Pulaski Mirror Company soon followed as well as a Hosiery Mill 
and thread factory.37 While the overall county population increased by 19% during the 1920s with 
an additional 4,000 white residents, the black population decreased from 2,930 in 1920 (17%) to 
2,248 (11%) in 1930.38 
 
As the overall population of Pulaski County increased, so did the number of students and the 
Pulaski County School Board (PCSB) made plans to consolidate and improve school facilities. 
The PCSB budgeted $33,563 in 1915 and $26,969 in 1916 for school construction and 
improvements.39 Projects included the construction of a new elementary school for white students 
and a four-room addition to the Pulaski Graded School for black students. The improvements to 
the black school also provided “sanitary toilets” for the first time; however, the school still lacked 
a cafeteria or library. Mrs. Santa Cruz, who taught domestic science, made soup in her classroom, 
and sold it for five cents a bowl to students who did not bring their lunch to school.40 The Rich 
Hill School for blacks was built soon after with support from the Rosenwald Fund. The Rosenwald 
School Building records indicate this one-room school was built during the 1917-1920 budget 
years at a cost of $1,250 with $400 contributed by the black community, $250 in Rosenwald funds, 
and only $625 from PCSB.41  
 
Secondary school education for blacks in the town of Pulaski was first offered between 1918 and 
1920 with the addition of two grade levels to the Pulaski Graded School under the leadership of 
principal Anna B. Norman, known as the “Mother of the High School Department.”42 In 1921, the 
name of the school changed to the Calfee Training School, in honor of Lee Calfee who had donated 
the land for the school. Additionally, the change in the name from a “graded” to “training” school 
reflected the addition of the high school department and, more than likely, also the receipt of 
funding from the Slater Foundation as it served as the primary supporter of the county training 
school movement.43  
 
In 1922, the County Unit Act went into effect for Virginia schools. Thus, the multiple school 
districts operating in Pulaski County were merged into a singular district and schools were 
consolidated. At that time, there were a total of 42 schools for white students in the county, 
including 27 one-room schools and seven two-room schools. In addition to the Pulaski Training 
School, black students attended four one-room schools and one two-room school in the county.44 
The most significant change resulting from the unit plan was the consolidation of existing one- 
and two-room schools scattered throughout the county into larger, centrally located schools with 
improved plans based on standardized designs from the School Building Service of the Department 
of Education. Other changes included the initiation of a transportation system and expanded 
institutional programs as well as the uniformity of school terms.45 As part of its efforts to comply 
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with the County Unit Act and to ease overcrowding in the Pulaski District schools, the PCSB 
applied for Literary Funds from the General Assembly and passed a $75,000 bond in 1923 to 
construct and furnish a new 20-room Jefferson Elementary School for whites in South Pulaski.46 
In contrast, the PCSB applied for Rosenwald funds to construct the New River School in 1922-
1923. The total cost of this two-room black school was $4,800 with $100 contributed by the black 
community, $700 in Rosenwald funds, and $4,000 from PCSB.47  
 
As with many education reforms in Virginia and the South at this time, improvements were initially 
made to white schools and only trickled down to black schools as the segregated and unequal status 
quo persisted. This was confirmed in 1928 by the Report to the Educational Commission of 
Virginia of a Survey of the Public Educational System of the State. Also referred to as the “O’Shea 
Report” for Dr. M.V. O’Shea of the University of Wisconsin who directed the study, the report 
identified significant deficiencies in education in rural areas of Virginia, particularly for black 
students and their teachers. Specifically, the report recommended improvements to school facilities 
and the educational curriculum as well as teachers’ training and salaries. With only nineteen high 
schools for black students in Virginia in 1926, including only eight that were accredited, O’Shea 
commented that:  
 

This leaves the great mass of colored people almost without standard high school 
facilities. And it makes effective training for leadership, so sadly needed by this 
isolated group, both difficult and unduly expensive. For they must send their 
children away to boarding schools for advanced elementary and high school 
training, which they should receive free of cost at their homes.48 

 
The O’Shea report, however, continued to support the “training school” approach that focused 
more on vocational training than academic and higher education for black students.49 
 
The disparities in spending on white and black schools in Pulaski, average number of students per 
teacher and school, the limited secondary curriculum, and the renaming of the Pulaski Graded 
School to the Calfee Training School align with the findings in the 1928 O’Shea Report. An 
interview with Edna C. Gardner, who taught in three different one-room black schools between 
1918 and 1933 (before joining the faculty at the Calfee Training School in 1934), provides insight 
into the conditions of black schools in Pulaski County. Ms. Gardner was paid a salary of $38 for a 
six-month term in 1918 with an additional $1.50 a month for cleaning the school and laying the 
fire during the winter months. At the Allisonia school, she taught grades one through six in a single 
room with students ranging in age from five to nineteen. There was no indoor plumbing or toilets 
and the students walked to school as no transportation was provided.50 Conditions were similar at 
the Needmore School, a one-room school located in a church just outside of town in North Pulaski. 
The one teacher employed at this school reported for the 1924-1925 term that she taught a total of 
fifty-two students ranging in age from six to fifteen years. The school term lasted 134 days with 
an average attendance of thirty-nine students a day. As no transportation was provided, students 
walked between six and fourteen miles each way to school.51 
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In 1933, Calfee Training School had an enrollment of 224 students and offered two years of high 
school education.52 The first class of students completing four years of high school instruction 
graduated in 1935; however, Calfee Training School was not an accredited high school. Dr. P.C. 
Corbin, a prominent doctor in the black community, led efforts by the Calfee School Patrons 
League in 1936-1937 to advocate for an accredited high school for black students in Pulaski 
County. The closest option at the time was Christiansburg Institute in Montgomery County and no 
transportation was provided. The PCSB decided to expand the high school curriculum at Calfee 
Training School in 1937 by hiring Chauncey Harmon to teach mathematics and reading.53  
Harmon grew up on nearby Magazine Street and attended Calfee Training School through the 
ninth grade (1920-1929). With limited options for an accredited high school education in Virginia, 
Harmon attended high school at Tuskegee Institute in Alabama, where he also received his 
Bachelor of Science degree in business administration in 1935. After returning to Pulaski, Harmon 
taught in an adult literacy program in the county sponsored by the newly established Works 
Progress Administration (WPA) from 1935 to 1937. To supplement his income, Harmon also 
worked odd jobs and helped his parents with their hotel and barbershop businesses.54 With the 
coveted position at Calfee Training School, Harmon began making $55 a month.55  
 
In 1937, Calfee Training School had eight classrooms and eight teachers (including the principal) 
for the education of approximately 250 students ranging from the first through the twelfth grade. 
The school, originally built in 1894 and expanded in 1915, was in poor condition with no separate 
rooms for the cafeteria or library. With no auditorium or gymnasium, school plays and other 
assemblies were held at the First Baptist Church on Magazine Street and athletic competitions 
played on opponents’ courts and fields.56 Textbooks and supplies were usually second hand and in 
short supply. This lack of funding was confirmed in a report by the county treasurer that the 1936-
1937 spending per student at Calfee was $21.48 compared to $31.04 at the white high school.57 
Another example of this disparity was the provision of hot lunches through a WPA program to the 
white high school students beginning in 1935 while these lunches were not offered to the students 
at Calfee until 1937.58 While the accommodations at Calfee Training School were lacking, the 
school benefitted from a stable and committed faculty as well as an active student body. The first 
publication of the school yearbook, The Purple and Gold, provides insight into student activities 
and accomplishments in 1937-1938. In addition to the yearbook club, four other clubs sponsored 
plays, art shows, assemblies, fundraisers, and school outings. In spite of not having a gymnasium, 
athletic teams also competed for the first time that year in basketball, volleyball and softball.59  
 
The PCSB began construction on Pico Terrace Elementary School (white) in late 1936 to replace 
East Pulaski Elementary School. The new two-story, brick building cost approximately $82,000 
with funding provided by the Literary Fund and the federal Public Works Administration. The 
twelve-room school opened with an enrollment of 450 white students in October 1937.60  
 
The Public Works Administration and School Improvement Plans 
 
The early 1930s did not provide any improvements to public education in Pulaski County due to 
reduced tax revenues resulting from the Great Depression. As an industrial town, the local 
economy was severely impacted with several industries closing and others laying off or 
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furloughing employees due to reduced production. While the overall county population remained 
relatively the same, the black population continued to decline by 195 residents, representing a 
decrease from 11% to just 7%.61 Teachers’ salaries and school budgets reached an all-time low in 
1933-1934 before being reinstated in 1937. 62  In 1936, the economy began to rebound as 
Appalachian Electric Power announced plans to begin construction in 1937 of the $10 million dam 
and power plant project that would create Claytor Lake. 
 
Nationally, new school construction came to a halt during the Great Depression due to lack of 
financial resources. To stimulate the economy and provide the associated employment 
opportunities, Congress passed the Economic Recovery and Construction Act in 1932 to provide 
financial assistance to local, state, and federal government agencies with funding for public 
infrastructure projects. To administer the funds, the Public Works Administration (PWA) was 
created in 1933. PWA funded various projects throughout the country such as schools, 
courthouses, dams, bridges, subways, hospitals, and sewage treatment plants. Between 1933 and 
1939, 70% of all school construction in the country was completed with the assistance of PWA 
funds. 63 Through March 1939, the PWA subsidized 7,282 educational projects amounting to 
$1,161,118,000 in total funds. Over 40% of PWA allotments were made to building and improving 
educational facilities across the country, “indicating to some extent what the communities of the 
Nation have considered to be their prime need in the matter of public works.”64 
 
From 1933-1937 the much-needed improvements to black elementary and secondary schools, in 
particular, was supported by the PWA with a total of approximately 225 new schools constructed, 
improvements to approximately 115 existing schools and the construction of 64 associated 
buildings, such as auditoriums, cafeterias, dormitories, and housing for teachers.65 The estimated 
cost of this building program totaled $15,861,221, with $8,814,211 going towards elementary 
schools such as the Calfee Training School. These schools for black students were only constructed 
in states in the South which still had separate facilities for white and black students. Virginia was 
one of those states which experienced the greatest rise in benefits to black students in the form of 
more new and improved school buildings for black students, and thus an increased level of 
participation and attendance.66 The cost of these new buildings and building improvements for 
State Superintendent of Instruction Sidney Hall accredited the school construction boom in 
Virginia, which totaled nearly $10 million by 1938, directly to the availability of PWA funds.67  
 
Beginning in 1935, Pulaski County started making plans for school improvements to take 
advantage of the PWA funds. In addition to several additions to one- and two-room schools 
throughout the county, the PCSB began construction on Pico Terrace Elementary School (white) 
in late 1936 to replace East Pulaski Elementary School. The new two-story, brick building cost 
approximately $82,000 with funding provided by the Literary Fund and the federal PWA school 
construction program. The twelve-room school opened in October 1937 with an enrollment of 450 
white students.68 As early as 1936, the PCSB recognized the inadequate conditions at Calfee 
Training School, particularly the lack of an auditorium, and introduced several proposals over the 
next couple of years. Improvement options proposed ranged from an auditorium addition to the 
current school building; the construction of a new four-room school across the street to function 
in conjunction with the existing school; and, an entirely new eleven-room school across the street 
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that would include an auditorium.69 The 1938-1939 budget provided for a school construction and 
improvement plan with the following projects proposed: at Pulaski High School (white), a new 
gymnasium ($45,000), heating and sanitary improvements ($15,000) and a new four-room home 
economics cottage ($10,000): at Dublin High School (white), a three-room addition ($12,000) and 
heating and sanitary improvements ($10,000); and, at Calfee Training School (black), a new eight-
room building on a new site across the street ($34,045). The plan also included remodeling the 
current Calfee Training School building for use as an auditorium and additional classrooms for 
home economics and manual training. The county received $56,250 (45%) in PWA funding and 
planned to finance the balance with a loan from the state Literary Fund.70   
 
While plans for the above improvements were underway, the disparities in school facilities for 
whites and blacks in Pulaski suffered an even greater divide as the Calfee Training School caught 
fire on November 11, 1938.71 This tragic loss not only temporarily left the black students without 
a school building in town or any provision for secondary education in Pulaski, but also ignited a 
public debate over the equality of school facilities and teachers’ salaries in the county. 
 
Plans for a New Calfee Training School and the Fight for Equality 
 
In the 1930s, the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) began a 
legal strategy to end racial discrimination in the South, particularly in education, by exposing the 
inherent inequality in the “separate but equal” rationale for legally-segregated schools.72 Between 
1933 and 1950, the NAACP focused their efforts on desegregating higher education and 
professional schools, fighting for equal pay for black teachers, and demanding equalization in 
school facilities.73 Following a recent successful salary equalization court case in Montgomery 
County, Maryland, Thurgood Marshall spoke to the Virginia State Teachers Association (VSTA) 
at its Jubilee Conference at Hampton Institute in November 1937. As assistant special counsel to 
the NAACP, Marshall explained to the members of the statewide black teachers’ organization that 
the NAACP intended to begin a similar equalization effort in Virginia and North Carolina. The 
VSTA unanimously passed a resolution to provide financial support to this effort.74 Field Secretary 
E. Frederic Morrow described the event in the January 1938 issue of the NAACP publication The 
Crisis as "1000 Negro public servants registering an open, courageous, and intelligent protest 
against the rising tide of white oppression and discrimination."75  
 
Chauncey Harmon, who had attended the 1937 VSTA Jubilee Conference, was inspired by the 
NAACP efforts and submitted his name as a candidate for the Virginia equalization case during 
the summer of 1938 following his first year teaching high school classes at Calfee Training 
School.76 Harmon continued to communicate with the leadership of the VSTA and the Virginia 
Conference of the NAACP through the events of the 1938-1939 school year. Statewide, the topic 
of equality in education remained on the forefront of activism within the black community. 
Beginning in August 1938, the Richmond Afro-American and the Norfolk Journal and Guide ran 
a series of articles pointing out the disparities in funding and facilities provided for the education 
of whites versus blacks. Editorials in these well-known newspapers even went as far as to compare 
the treatment of blacks in the South to that of Jews in Europe and drew parallels between the 
Southern white gentleman and Mussolini and Hitler.77  
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In Pulaski County, the inequality between white and black school facilities became even more 
evident with the 1938-1939 school construction and improvement plan, particularly in the plans to 
replace Calfee Training School. In spite of the fact that the total proposed budget for the new site 
and building for the black school was more than $10,000 less than the cost of the gymnasium alone 
at the Pulaski High School (white), the PCSB decided only to build the new eight-room Calfee 
Training School as planned without compensating for the loss of the former school building that 
was planned to be renovated for an auditorium as well as home economics and manual training 
classes. The PCSB was adamant that the budget only allowed for the construction of the eight-
room new school and, since the former school was destroyed by fire, there would be no additional 
provision for the auditorium and training classes.  
 
Leaders in the black community decided to take advantage of this situation to address the racial 
disparity in education in Pulaski and to advocate for improved facilities. Dr. P.C. Corbin, a black 
doctor who had gained the trust and respect of the white community during the influenza epidemic, 
served in leadership roles in both the Calfee Parent Teacher Association and the local NAACP 
chapter. As a strong advocate for black education in Pulaski, Dr. Corbin wrote a letter to the 
Pulaski Southwest Times on November 15, 1938 commenting on the dilapidated condition of the 
Calfee Training School prior to the fire and pointing out that there had been a long history in the 
county of inadequate funding of facilities for black students.78 That same day, the newspaper 
uncharacteristically took a stand on the issue and ran an editorial that called for the PCSB to 
provide a new school that “will be adequate for all needs” and to “do their utmost to provide for 
the best interests of the colored people."79 Chauncey Harmon, who had been promoted to principal 
of Calfee Training School in 1938, followed the next day with an open letter to the editor of the 
newspaper that expressed his frustrations with the decisions (and lack of action) regarding Calfee 
Training School on the part of the PCSB. In his November 20, 1938 letter, which appeared on the 
front page with the title “Principal of Colored School Appeals to Pulaski Citizens in Effort to 
Reopen Classes,” Harmon airs his frustrations in identifying temporary facilities for the remainder 
of the school year and the lack of accommodations in the proposed new school plans. He also 
points to the disparity between the funding for facilities at white and black schools as evidence of 
the general lack of support from the PCSB for black students and their teachers.80 
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Image 1: Chauncey Harmon, “Open Forum Letter to the Editor,” Pulaski 
Southwest Times. November 15, 1938, 4.   
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The newspaper appeals to the public were successful as numerous civic clubs and organizations 
within both the white and black communities of Pulaski took notice. Resolutions in support of 
adequate facilities for the Calfee Training School were passed by the Pulaski Rotary Club, the 
Pulaski Baptist Church, the Women’s Auxiliary of Christ Church, the Ladies’ Aid of Jefferson 
Avenue Christian Church, the Women’s Missionary Society of the First Methodist Church, the 
Junior Women’s Club, and the Senior Women’s Club with copies of the resolutions sent to the 
PCSB, the County School Superintendent, and the Superintendent of Instruction at the Department 
of Education in Richmond.81 The public outcry, prompted by the letters to the editor, got the 
attention of the PCSB as accommodations for students to continue the 1938-1939 school year in 
temporary facilities in a lodge hall and two churches in the black community were announced by 
County School Superintendent Haynes H. Bruce on November 29. At the time, Bruce also 
reiterated that the plans for a new eight-room school building, which were underway prior to the 
fire, were almost complete and would not be changed.82 Harmon and Corbin successfully used the 
media to keep the issue in the public arena with regional and statewide coverage in The Roanoke 
Times and the Norfolk Journal and Guide.83 The public pressure must have caused the PCSB to 
reconsider their plans as the Superintendent’s Office announced on December 11 that “It is now 
the purpose of the board to take the insurance money received from the building, which was 
destroyed by fire, which amounts to $5,200, use the brick from the old building and build an 
auditorium and two class rooms with the aid of the national youth administration. This is in 
addition to the new 8-room building.”84  
 
In February 1939, the Pulaski Southwest Times reported that the architectural plans for the new 
Calfee Training School and the Pulaski High School gymnasium had been completed and that 
construction bids would be opened on March 1. The newspaper described the plans for Calfee as 
follows: 
 

Plans for the Calfee training school building outline eight class rooms in a one story 
building, furnace and fuel rooms, toilets, a principal’s office and a hall running the 
length of a “T” shaped structure. Also to be constructed are two additional class 
rooms and an auditorium through the NYA (National Youth Administration). The 
building is to be erected on the north side of Second street west, on property recently 
acquired by the school board and will have a front and two side entrances on the T 
shaft. Class rooms will measure approximately 24x30 feet each. Construction 
details call for select common brick with a metal roof.85 

 
The new school was planned to accommodate 320 students in the first through twelfth grades. The 
$39,650 estimated construction cost included $31,000 in PWA funds as well as $5,200 in insurance 
proceeds from the former school building destroyed by fire. Any funds left over after construction 
would be used to equip the new school building. The bid to construct the new Calfee Training 
School was awarded on March 1, 1939, to the Dublin firm of Trinkle and Dobyns in the amount 
of $34,750. The construction of the much-contested rear wing for the gymnasium and training 
classrooms would be accomplished with the assistance of the National Youth Administration 
(NYA) using the bricks from the former school. Construction was scheduled to begin immediately 
and be completed within 180 days.86 
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The NYA was established by Executive Order 7086 in June 1935 within the structure of the PWA. 
According to a report on the program written by the Federal Security Agency and War Manpower 
Commission, the objectives of the program were to “provide opportunities to needy young men 
and women for the continuance of their education and to gain needed work experience.”87 The 
NYA offered part-time employment for young people who were in school and in need of financial 
aid to continue their education and for young people who were not in school and unemployed.88 
NYA workers participated in a variety of public works projects, including, but not limited to, 
construction and repair of buildings, automotive repairs, healthcare, reforestation, and library 
services. 89  The NYA program ended in 1943. Throughout its lifespan, the NYA employed 
2,134,000 in the student work program and 2,677,000 men and women in the out-of-school 
program.90 The program spent a total of $662,300,000 over 8 years, of which, $169,500,000 went 
to wages for youth in the student program, and $467,700,000 went to wages for youth in the out-
of-school program.91 
 
Although Harmon and the black citizens of Pulaski were successful in their fight to add an 
auditorium and training classrooms to the plans for the new Calfee Training School, they were not 
satisfied. After unsuccessful attempts to involve government officials – including: Thomas Walker 
(Consultant and Advisor on Negro Affairs), Fred Alexander (State Supervisor of Negro 
Education), and Arthur D. Wright (Director of the Southern Education Fund) – Harmon turned to 
the legal strategy of the NAACP to achieve their goals of equality in education for blacks.92 The 
Richmond Afro-American and the Norfolk Journal and Guide both reported on February 11, 1939 
that J. Thomas Hewin Jr., attorney with the Virginia Conference of the NAACP, was filing 
equalization suits in the counties of Surrey, Middlesex, Pulaski and Alleghany. The article goes 
on to state that "Pulaski County has gone one step further by petitioning its board and asking for 
equalization of teachers' salaries and equalization of colored schools."93 Beyond the fact that black 
students in the town of Pulaski had no permanent school to attend in 1938-1939, Pulaski County 
had a long history of racial inequality in education. An analysis of school funding in Virginia 
reported that a minimum level of education in Virginia in 1938-1939 cost $36.00 per student, while 
Pulaski County spent an average of only $18.61 to educate each black student.94 While the gap in 
annual teachers’ salaries in Pulaski County for this same school term was not as wide as that found 
statewide, with county pay averaging $733 for white teachers and $513 for black teachers 
compared to the state average of $912 and $598, (respectively); there was still a significant gap 
between the races and the county salaries, in general, were less than the state average.95 Perhaps 
most significantly, the school terms were not equal with white students attending school 180 days 
during the 1938-1939 term while black students attended only 168 days.96 For the students at 
Calfee Training School, the 1938-1939 school year would be even shorter due to the time it took 
the PCSB to find temporary quarters for school following the fire.  
 
A 1939 study commissioned by Governor James H. Price and prepared by the Department of 
Education provides additional information on the disparities in public high schools in Virginia for 
the 1937–1938 term. In a section devoted to African-American education, the report noted low 
school enrollment within the black population statewide. Only 26% of high school–age black 
students were listed as enrolled in school and just slightly more than 50% of those enrolled attended 
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school on a regular basis. The study reported that there were 109 black high schools offering some 
level of secondary education in Virginia with only 54 of those being accredited. The emphasis 
continued to be on a more practical education for students with a suggested curriculum consisting 
of “English, social studies, practical mathematics, biology, homemaking education including maid 
service, and industrial education including wood working and hotel service.”97 Noticeably missing 
were classes in more advanced mathematics or sciences. In order to improve high school education 
for blacks in Virginia, the report aligned with the NAACP equalization goals as it recommended 
higher salaries for teachers, the provision of transportation, improved facilities, as well as better 
teaching materials and equipment.98 
 
During the winter of 1939, Harmon and Corbin worked with NAACP attorney Hewin to file 
equalization petitions with the PCSB. Harmon, high school teacher and principal of Calfee 
Training School, served as the petitioner for an equal school facility while Willis P. Gravely, high 
school teacher at Calfee, petitioned for equal salaries as he was a certified teacher.99 Although 
copies of the petitions themselves are not in the PCSB records, the Norfolk Journal and Guide 
reported that in Gravely’s petition he asserts that he is paid less than the schedule set up for white 
teachers of the same training and qualifications as he has, and asks that the school board adopt and 
enforce a new salary schedule for high school teachers with the same qualifications without any 
distinction being made as to race or color of teachers in the school system of Pulaski County.”100 
In addition to Gravely’s petition, the Pulaski Southwest Times reported that Harmon’s petition, 
which was  
 

signed by approximately 200 people, charged present negro school facilities are 
inadequate; that the school board does not provide any health service for negro 
students; no transportation provided; no manual or domestic arts classes provided; 
no free library; no auditorium; no recreational facilities provided and the charges 
ended with one of discrimination against colored students in not being placed on a 
parity with white pupils.101  

 
The PCSB informed Hewin and the petitioners that they had decided at the March 1 meeting to 
send all county high school students to Christiansburg Institute in Montgomery County rather than 
provide an accredited high school education in Pulaski County. A new school bus would be 
purchased to provide transportation to Christiansburg Institute for the county students.102 Both the 
Richmond Agro-American and the Norfolk Journal and Guide reported that the petitions were 
successful, noting that "residents of Pulaski made history last week by being the first in the State 
to march on the school board and succeed in getting a well-equipped elementary school, free 
transportation, and tuition for their children of high school age."103 Smith goes on to report that 
the petition from Gravely for equal salaries was tabled by the PCSB. In a 1995 interview, Gravely 
stated that the PCSB never followed up with him regarding his petition for equality in teacher 
salaries.104 
 
On May 1, 1939, Chauncey Harmon wrote a letter to the editor of the Pulaski Southwest Times 
thanking members of the community for their support during his first year as principal of Calfee 
Training School. Regarding the new school under construction, he stated the following: “With its 
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adequate class room space of eight rooms, its convertible auditorium and gymnasium, its teaching 
staff and its vast playground space there is every reason to believe and expect it to eventually rank 
among the best elementary schools of the state.”105 
 
Harmon also commented on the arrangement for high school students to attend Christiansburg 
Institute, noting that:  
 

All of our high school pupils will be transported to Christiansburg Industrial 
institute, Cambria, beginning in September, a school which offers a full course of 
home economies, manual arts, agriculture and extra-curricular activities. This is a 
very excellent opportunity for our high school pupils, one of which the colored 
citizens are very proud.106  

 
In spite of his gracious support of the decisions of the PCSB regarding Calfee Training School, 
Harmon was not listed in the teacher appointments announced by the PCSB at the May 24 meeting. 
At the time, none of the former Calfee teachers, all of whom had supported the petitions, were 
reappointed either. At the June 27 meeting, however, the PCSB reappointed the former Calfee 
teachers, with the exception of Harmon and Gravely, whose positions as high school teachers were 
eliminated with the decision not to continue the high school department at Calfee. Ulysses      
Broadneaux, also a graduate of Tuskegee Institute, was appointed the new principal of Calfee 
Training School. While Gravely’s petition for equal pay was dismissed, the PCSB increased the 
salary for black teachers to $65 a month, which narrowed the gap between salaries for white and 
black teachers to approximately $5 a month.107  
 
Progress on the construction of the new Calfee Training School was followed closely. The 
newspaper reported that the foundation would be completed by the end of March.108 Construction 
by the NYA of the auditorium wing was underway by the end of May and was scheduled to be 
completed by the first of October. The newspaper reported that the auditorium addition, which will 
also serve as a gymnasium, “will be 66x34 and will tie directly on to the building now under 
construction. A stage 32 feet wide and 15 feet long is provided along with the auditorium proper 
which will be 50x32 and seat between 350 and 400 persons.”109 In mid-June, the newspaper 
described the exterior brick walls of the school building as fully constructed with the girders in 
place for the roof to be completed by July. Interior work underway included plastering of interior 
walls and the laying of the subfloor for the auditorium.110 The total cost of the new Calfee Training 
School was $39,273.30, including $3,054 for the land, $34,833.54 in construction costs, $1,269.40 
for equipment, and $116.36 in interest.111 Notably, the two rear training classrooms, designed to 
be part of the rear auditorium wing, were never built. 
 
The new Calfee Training School opened in September 1939 with an enrollment of 235 students in 
the first through eighth grades with most of the former teachers returning. Plans by the faculty and 
PTA were soon underway for a formal dedication. At the first PTA meeting, Principal Broadneaux 
presented his plans for a school band.112  
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Meanwhile, approximately 100 Pulaski County high school students were required to ride the bus 
the 30 miles each way to Christiansburg Institute in Montgomery County. While Christiansburg 
Institute was a fully accredited high school and offered amenities such as science labs and a library 
that were not available at Calfee Training School, it was often difficult for the Pulaski students to 
take advantage of these opportunities as they had to catch the bus home immediately after school. 
Dr. P.C. Corbin, who had advocated for the Calfee Training School to become a fully accredited 
high school as early as 1936, initially sent his youngest son Mahatma to the Christiansburg 
Institute. Once Dr. Corbin realized the challenges of attending high school in Christiansburg, he 
renewed his efforts to establish a high school in Pulaski by calling attention to the inherent 
inequality of attending high school in a neighboring county. Dr. Corbin contacted Oliver Hill and 
Spotswood Robinson of the NAACP to file an equalization suit on behalf of his son Mahatma 
Corbin and the students of Pulaski County.113  
 
Hill argued Corbin et al v County School Board of Pulaski County, Virginia before Judge Albert 
Barksdale in the US District Court, Western District in Roanoke in October 1948. Hill alleged that 
the PCSB was "pursuing a policy, practice, and usage of denying Negro children of Pulaski 
County, Virginia, on account of their race and color, educational opportunities, facilities, and 
advantages substantially equal to those afforded white children similarly situated” and, therefore 
denied them equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment.114 Judge Barksdale ruled in favor 
of the county based partially on the fact that, by the time of his decision on May 2, 1949, the 
Friends Freedmen’s Association had sold the Christiansburg Institute to Pulaski and Montgomery 
counties along with the City of Radford. He claimed that disqualifying Christiansburg Institute as 
an equal opportunity for education due to its distance would negate the state system of consolidated 
schools.115 Barksdale also determined there was no discrimination on the elementary school level 
because, in addition to the fact that Calfee Training School is new and well-equipped, there were 
many smaller schools for white students throughout the county that were in similar or worse 
condition than the black schools. Therefore, the inadequate facilities for blacks were not based on 
racial discrimination.116 Hill appealed the decision to the Fourth Circuit of the US Court of 
Appeals. The three-judge panel dismissed the complaint regarding compulsory attendance as it 
found there was no discrimination and remanded the issue of discrimination in elementary schools 
based on the finding that each school must be considered individually. On the issue of 
discrimination at the high school level, the judges reversed Barksdale’s ruling citing that “per pupil 
expenditures, curricular offerings, the long bus ride and its accompanying hardships, and facilities 
for science, home economics, and athletics” clearly provided examples of inequalities between the 
white and black high schools. Judge Dobie went on to state that "whenever the forbidden racial 
discrimination rears its head, a solemn duty to strike it down is imposed upon the courts."117 As 
one of eleven equalization cases filed by the NAACP, Corbin et al v County School Board of 
Pulaski County, Virginia represents a critical step in the NAACP legal strategy before shifting the 
focus from equalization to desegregation of schools.  
 
School Desegregation and the Closing of Calfee School (1966) 
 
The early 1950s marked a critical transition in the fight to end racial discrimination in education 
as the NAACP began a legal campaign to desegregate schools rather than just arguing for the 
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equalization of facilities and teachers’ salaries.118 In Virginia, this new strategy began with the 
student walkout at Robert Russa Moton High School (NHL, 1998) in Farmville. This protest led 
to the Davis v. Prince Edward County, Virginia case which would become part of Brown v. Board 
of Education argued before the US Supreme Court in 1952.  
 
In the years leading up to the 1954 Brown v. Board of Education landmark decision, localities 
across Virginia attempted to avoid desegregation by making improvements to black schools. 
Referred to as “equalization schools,” new schools were constructed, and existing schools 
improved as a last-ditch effort to justify the segregated schools as equal. In 1950, newly elected 
Governor John S. Battle set up a fund of $7,000,000 in state aid that would be given to localities 
for school construction. The purpose of the fund was to address the backlog of school building 
needs after World War II as well as the disparities in black schools.119 That same year, Pulaski 
County began a $2.5 million county-wide school building construction and improvement program. 
As part of the improvement plans, a one-story rear addition was proposed for the Calfee Training 
School to provide a lunchroom, teachers’ restroom, and a stoker. The Dublin firm Trinkle and 
Dobyns, contractor for the 1939 school building, submitted the low bid of $12,100 for the addition 
on November 21, 1950, with an anticipated construction period of seven months. On January 26, 
1951, it was announced that Pulaski County would receive $94,135120 from the Battle Fund to 
assist in funding the school projects.121  
 
The 1954 landmark decision in Brown v. Board of Education ruled that segregated schools were 
inherently unequal and, therefore, violated the Fourteenth Amendment. The court, however, did 
not provide a means to achieve school integration, instead instructing the localities to provide a 
plan “with all deliberate speed.” With no specific deadline for a plan, Virginia continued to allow 
segregated schools over the next decade during the period of Massive Resistance. It was not until 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964 that any progress was made in the desegregation of schools in Virginia 
and other southern states. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act gave the federal government the power 
to bring lawsuits against the localities and school boards as well as withhold funding when they 
did not have a plan to integrate their school system. 
 
During the period of Massive Resistance, the black school population in Pulaski County continued 
to increase and burden the limited facilities. The 1954-1955 school term recorded elementary 
school enrollment as 384 black and 5,054 white students in the county system. and 118 black and 
1,614 white students attending high schools. Facilities for the black students were limited to the 
eight-room Calfee Training School, the three-classroom William Gresham School in New River, 
and the one-room Rich Hill School in Allisonia. The black high school students had to ride a bus 
thirty miles each way to attend Christiansburg Institute in Montgomery County. In 1955, Calfee 
Training School had an enrollment of 360 students for its eight-room building, which was planned 
to accommodate 320 students. Christiansburg Institute also saw a rise in the number of Pulaski 
students attending with 121 black high school students from the county enrolled.122 Prior to a plan 
for full integration, schools in Virginia operated under the 1956 Stanley Plan and the 1958 Perrow 
Plan in which parents had to apply for their children to attend a different school. However, these 
plans were typically administered by local and state officials or boards that resisted integration, 
thereby allowing segregation to persist.123 
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In August 1960, federal judge Roby C. Thompson ordered ten school districts in Virginia, 
including Pulaski County, to recognize the assignments of the Pupil Placement Board and allow 
black students to attend white schools for the first time. A total of fourteen black students from the 
town of Pulaski had applied to attend the all-white Pulaski High School. Pulaski County School 
Superintendent Critzer reported that the first day of school integration went smoothly without 
incident.124 In 1965, the county operated under a Freedom of Choice plan which made a minimal 
effort to desegregate by allowing students to choose the school they wanted to attend but not 
mandating it.125 However, the Federal Department of Health, Education and Welfare discontinued 
the Freedom of Choice plan in 1966, saying it was not effective, and required that the Pulaski 
Schools become completely integrated. With full integration, the former black schools of 
Christiansburg Institute, William Gresham Elementary School, and Calfee Training School closed 
in 1966 and put an end to the dual school system that had operated since the inception of public 
schools in the 1870s.126 Within two years, the 1968 Supreme Court decision in Green v. County 
School Board of New Kent County required all school systems to demonstrate concrete progress 
in desegregating public schools.127  
 
It was not long, however, before the Calfee School reopened in 1968 to house the kindergarten 
classes of Jefferson Elementary School. The former Calfee Training School was renamed Pulaski 
Primary School to operate as a kindergarten with eighty students, four teachers, and two aides.128   
The program expanded for the 1971-1972 school term to include all kindergarten students from 
the Jefferson, Northwood, and Claremont attendance zones with buses providing transportation.129 
Beginning in 1975, the former school building operated as the Pulaski County Child Development 
Center sponsored by the Department of Social Services.130  
 
Calfee School and the African-American Community 
 
Throughout its lifespan, the Calfee Training School not only served as an elementary school for 
black pupils, but also as a community center for the surrounding neighborhood and other black 
communities in town. According to various newspaper articles and regular announcements in the 
“Colored News” column by Ethel Carter in the Pulaski Southwest Times, numerous events, student 
performances, fund drives, and meetings took place on a regular basis at Calfee Training School. 
Beginning as early as March 1940, adult classes offered to the community included instruction in 
nursing, mathematics, reading, and sewing with as many as 45 adults enrolled.131 Fundraising 
events held at the school included a drive to “aid the fight against infant paralysis” and events 
sponsored by the schools’ Merchandise Club to raise money for playground equipment. The school 
also provided hot lunches to children and musical instruction with support from the Community 
Fund. 132  The impact of World War II was evident in an original “playlet” titled “Air Raid 
Precaution” performed by the sixth and seventh graders. The school also served as a distribution 
center for sugar ration cards before and after school hours during wartime.133 In 1944, the school 
hosted an organizational meeting of veterans from World War I and II to form an American Legion 
Post for Colored Veterans of Pulaski and vicinity.134 Perhaps the most enduring tradition for the 
school and larger black community of Pulaski was the annual May Day when students and their 
families from schools all over the county came to Calfee for games and festivities.135    
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In 1990, the former Calfee Training School was renovated as offices for the Magnox Corporation 
and was not accessible to the public for the first time. Since then, community members in Pulaski 
have come together to renovate the historic Calfee Training School into a community and cultural 
center that will house a childcare program, a museum commemorating local African American 
history, a community kitchen, multiple event and office spaces, a computer lab, two natural 
outdoor play spaces and a half basketball court. This renovation of the school and its use as a 
community center will return the school to its original function and role within the black 
community of Pulaski as a place to learn and build community. 
 
Criterion C: Architecture  

Calfee Training School was constructed in 1939 and is a good example of a one-story elementary 
school built in rural Virginia according to plans provided by the State Board of Education’s 
Division of School Buildings. The need for a new school arose after the original Calfee Training 
School, a two-story, eight-room brick building built in 1894 for black students, was destroyed by 
a fire in 1938. The 1894 school was located on the south side of West Main Street, facing the 
existing school building.  
 
The cost of the school was financed by a combination of Works Progress Administration funds, 
insurance money from the fire at the original Calfee Training School, and a loan from the State 
Literary Fund. The State Board of Education’s Division of School Buildings supplied plans for the 
new school in February 1939. The Division of School Buildings was established in 1920 to assist 
local school boards and superintendents with plans, specifications, and site selection for new 
buildings. This service allowed school boards to save on architects’ fees and resulted in the relative 
standardization of construction and design of school buildings across the state, particularly in rural 
communities and small towns.136 The plans for the 8-classroom, T-shaped building are “983.” The 
plans for the auditorium wing are “983-A.”  
 
The State’s Division of School Buildings design for the Calfee Training School reflects the 
Colonial Revival style, which was often used for schools in Virginia in the first half of the 20th 
century. The style emerged in the late 19th century from a renewed interest in America’s colonial 
past, sparked by the Centennial Exposition of 1876 in Philadelphia, which celebrated the 100th 
anniversary of the nation’s independence. The 1893 World’s Columbian Exposition and the 1920s 
restoration of Colonial Williamsburg by John D. Rockefeller further intensified national interest 
in the Colonial Revival movement, making the Colonial Revival style one of the most prevalent 
and enduring in America’s history. The style was, and continues to be, particularly popular in 
Virginia with its rich tradition of colonial architecture.  
 
The Colonial Revival style was applied to nearly all building types in Virginia the first half of the 
20th century. Communicating a sense of permanence and importance, the style was a natural choice 
for public buildings, such as schools. The hybrid style draws from Georgian, Federal, and Greek 
Revival styles, which all share a common classical vocabulary. Identifying characteristics include 
a balanced composition, red bricks in a Flemish or English bond, white trim, multi-pane double-
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hung sash windows, embellished entrances, and classical ornament. Calfee Training School—with 
its symmetrical facade of red brick with a pedimented entrance pavilion, multi-pane double-hung 
sash windows, and restrained classical detailing at the cornice—incorporates many defining 
characteristics of the style. Stylistic influence is further noted in its Flemish bond brickwork and 
brick soldier course water table.  
 
Only one other school was built in Pulaski County during the same period as Calfee Training 
School, Pico Terrace Elementary (1937). Built for white students to replace East Pulaski School, 
construction was also funded through loans from the Works Progress Administration and the State 
Literary Fund. The two-story, twelve-classroom, school reflects the Colonial Revival style, with 
its red brick construction, white detailing, and its overall symmetry and massing. However, Pico 
Terrace Elementary, now Pulaski Middle School, is more sophisticated in style with its white wood 
cupola, slate roof, jack arches with keystone, modillioned cornice, and brick quoins, illustrating 
the difference in school construction for white and black students. The historic Pico Terrace 
Elementary was remodeled in 2020 with a streamlined, contemporary façade and an open-floor 
plan. Thus, Calfee Training School remains as the only intact public school constructed in the 
1930s in Pulaski County and the only remaining school in the town of Pulaski constructed for 
black students. School building construction halted in the early 1940s as World War II intensified.  
 
On the interior, the plan and finishes exhibit typical school design as promoted by the State 
Division of School Building during the period. The 1939 interior plan for Calfee Training School 
shows a T-shaped plan comprised of a single-loaded transverse corridor extending across the front 
section to either side of the front lobby with an intersecting double-loaded corridor extending from 
the lobby to the auditorium wing at the rear. Eight classrooms, a principal’s office, two restrooms, 
and a furnace area are arranged around these corridors. Closets are located in each classroom 
Specified corridor and classroom finishes were typical of Division of School Buildings schools 
designed in the 1930s and included wood floors, plaster walls with Keene’s cement wainscot, 
wood baseboards and trim, and plaster ceilings. Along the corridors, doors were shown with eight 
solid panels around one center light surmounted by transoms. Blackboards and display boards are 
shown on classroom walls.  
 
A separate set of plans shows the hyphen connecting the rear classroom wing with the auditorium 
flanked by a classroom on each side. The two classrooms were never built. The auditorium features 
a wood stage at the rear (north) end with a proscenium opening. Specified finishes in the 
auditorium and classrooms include wood floors, plaster walls with Keene’s cement wainscot with 
a wood cap, and wood baseboards. The ceilings in the classrooms were designated as plaster, while 
the ceiling in the auditorium was acoustical board on plaster. Specified finishes in the hyphen 
include concrete floors, brick walls, and a stucco ceiling. Doors were shown with eight solid panels 
around one center lite, surmounted by transoms, except the doors to the stage in the auditorium 
were shown to be two panels surmounted by transoms. The plan suggests intentions of a future 
expansion of two classrooms, behind the two classrooms that were never built, with dashed lines 
around “future classrooms.” 
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The Dublin-based firm of Trinkle and Dobyns was awarded the construction contract for $34,754. 
Work was completed in 1939. Laborers with the National Youth Administration helped construct 
the rear auditorium wing as well. 
 
In November 1950, plans were developed for an addition comprising a lunchroom, teachers’ 
restroom, and stoker to the Calfee Training School as part of a county-wide building improvement 
agenda. The addition was designed by Smithey and Boynton, a Roanoke-based architecture and 
engineering firm, as part of the school building program, which planned projects for new buildings 
and additions or renovations at existing buildings for approximately fourteen different schools in 
Pulaski County. Trinkle and Dobyns constructed this addition as well. The addition was completed 
in 1951. 
 
Calfee Training School remained in operation until the integration of Bedford County schools in 
1966. Since integration, the building has served as a desegregated kindergarten, the Pulaski County 
Child Development Center, and as corporate offices.  
 
Calfee Training School survives as a good example of an early 20th century consolidated school 
constructed in rural Virginia after the establishment of the State Board of Education’s Division of 
School Buildings in 1920. Although built according to plans from the Division of School 
Buildings, it was continuously adapted over time to meet changing needs of the community. For 
27 years it operated as an elementary school for black students in Bedford County. The Colonial 
Revival-style school exhibits a high degree of architectural integrity with its exterior features and 
interior plan generally intact.  
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 Previous documentation on file (NPS):  

____ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested 
____ previously listed in the National Register 
____ previously determined eligible by the National Register 
____ designated a National Historic Landmark  
____ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey   #____________ 
____ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # __________ 
____ recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # ___________ 
 
Primary location of additional data:  

_X__ State Historic Preservation Office 
____ Other State agency 
____ Federal agency 
____ Local government 
____ University 
____ Other 
         Name of repository: Virginia Department of Historic Resources, Richmond, Virginia 
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Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): DHR #125-0034 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

10. Geographical Data 
 
Acreage of Property 2.66 
 
Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates 
 
Latitude/Longitude Coordinates 
Datum if other than WGS84:__________ 
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places) 
1. Latitude: 37.048566  Longitude: -80.786781 
 
2. Latitude:   Longitude: 
 
3. Latitude:   Longitude: 
 
4. Latitude:   Longitude: 
 
Or  
UTM References  
Datum (indicated on USGS map):  
 
           NAD 1927     or        NAD 1983 
 
1. Zone:  Easting:    Northing:   
 
2. Zone: Easting:    Northing: 
 
3. Zone: Easting:   Northing: 
 
4. Zone: Easting :   Northing: 
 
Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.) 
The true and correct historic boundaries of the nominated property include the 2.66-acre 
parcel as shown on the attached map entitled “Tax Parcel Map” corresponding with Pulaski 
County tax parcel number 072-14-1 (Obtained August 30, 2021, from Pulaski County GIS). 
 
Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) 
The boundary for the nominated property contains the former Calfee Training School’s 
historic setting and all known associated historic resources.  
__________________________________________________________________________ 
11. Form Prepared By 
name/title: Alison Blanton and Kate Kronau 
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organization: Hill Studio 
street & number: 120 Campbell Avenue SW 
city or town: Roanoke state: VA zip code: 24011 
e-mailablanton@hillstudio.com/kkronau@hillstudio.com 
telephone: (540) 342-5263 
date: September 2021 

___________________________________________________________________________ 
Additional Documentation 

 

Submit the following items with the completed form: 
 
● Maps:   A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's 
location. 
 
●  Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous 
resources.  Key all photographs to this map. 
 
● Additional items:  (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.) 
 

Photographs 

Submit clear and descriptive photographs.  The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels 
(minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger.  Key all photographs 
to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to 
the photograph number on the photo log.  For simplicity, the name of the photographer, 
photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn’t need to be labeled on 
every photograph. 
 
Photo Log 
 
Name of Property:  Calfee Training School 
City or Vicinity: Pulaski 
County: Pulaski      State: Virginia 
Photographer: Kate Kronau 
Date Photographed: June 2021 
 
Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of 
camera: 
 
1 of 19. Front (south) elevation, view north  

2 of 19. Front (south) and east side elevations, view northwest 

3 of 19. Front (south) and west side elevations, view northeast 

4 of 19. Front entrance, view north 
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5 of 19. East side elevation, view northwest 

6 of 19. Rear (north) and west side elevations, view southeast  

7 of 19. West side elevation, view southeast 

8 of 19. Entry in 1939 school, view south  

9 of 19. Longitudinal corridor in 1939 school, view north  

10 of 19. Classroom in 1939 school, view southeast  

11 of 19. Transverse corridor in 1939 school, view east 

12 of 19. Classroom in 1939 school, view northeast 

13 of 19. Principals’ office in 1939 school, view west 

14 of 19. Hyphen in 1939 school, view west 

15 of 19. Auditorium in 1939 school, view north  

16 of 19. Stage in auditorium in 1939 school, view southeast 

17 of 19. Lunchroom in 1951 addition, view northwest 

18 of 19. Non-contributing metal storage building, view southeast  

19 of 19. Non-contributing brick pump station, view northeast  

Historic Images 

1 of 1. Chauncey Harmon, “Open Forum Letter to the Editor,” Pulaski Southwest Times, 
November 15, 1938, p. 4.   

 
 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic 
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response 
to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 
et seq.). 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including  
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form.  Direct comments regarding 
this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
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